
















The creation of two further major dependencies seems to show that 
Galloway was to the Cistercians' liking. Glenluce Abbey was founded as 
a daughter-house of Dundrennan in 1191/2 by Roland, lord of Galloway, 
but little is known of its endowments. In the sixteenth century its buildings 
and possessions were prey to the conflicting ambitions of local landed 
families, most notably the Gordons of Lochinvar and the earls of Cassillis, 
through their proteges, the Hays of Park. 28 In the partly-tiled floor of the 
church there are monuments to the Gordons and the Hays, rivals even in 
the commemoration of death, and the surviving piers and bases are 
reminiscent of the original link, through Dundrennan, with the building 
styles of Byland and Roche Abbeys in Yorkshire. 29 

The romantic circumstances surrounding the foundation of New Abbey 
('new' in relation to the mother-house of Dundrennan) are reflected in its 
alternative name of 'Dulce Cor' (Sweetheart), the rich and pious Devorgilla 
de Balliol having founded this Cistercian monastery in 1273 in fond memory 
of her husband, John (d.1268). 30 His embalmed heart in a casket was 
buried with her on her death in 1290, and the effigy of the foundress bearing 
a representation of the heart casket surmount the reassembled fragments 
of a copy of her tomb in the south transept chapel. The foundation charter, 
which survives in an inspection by David II dated 1360, 31 endowed the 
monastery with the lands of Loch Kindar and part of Kirkpatrick Durham, 
but there is no record of other endowments from Balliol possessions outwith 
the province. 

A change in the expression of lay patronage is marked by Archibald 
Douglas's establishment of Lincluden Collegiate Church in 1389.32 This 
was a college of secular priests (in this case, a provost and eight 
prebendaries, later increased to twelve) endowed to celebrate masses for 
the souls of the founder and his family, thus fulfilling spiritual needs on 
a more personal and intimate basis than the increasingly sclerotic 
monasteries. In an age of conspicuous consumption, churches of this kind 
also provided an opportunity for a show of wealth and status. 

The architecture and sculpture in the choir is accordingly of a 
considerable richness and quality, giving some measure of the patronage 
of the powerful Douglas family. Authorship may be attributed to John 
Morow, a Parisian-born master-mason whose early fifteenth-century work 
at Melrose Abbey was accompanied by an inscribed panel listing other 
Scottish commissions, including work in 'Nyddysdayl' (Nithsdale). 33 

Some details show close affinities with Melrose, and would have coincided 
with the acquisition of French interests and tastes by the founder's son, 
Archibald, fourth earl of Douglas and duke Touraine, who was killed at 
Verneuil in 1424. It is the effigy and tomb of his widow, Princess Margaret, 
eldest daughter of King Robert Ill, which takes pride of place on the north 
side of the choir, and her status is denoted by the magnificence of the tomb­
surround. 

153 



Outside Lincluden and Dundrennan, however, Galloway cannot claim 
a particularly strong tradition in late medieval sculpture of tombs, effigies 
and grave-slabs. The cult continued, though, and is well displayed in post­
Reformation funerary monuments such as that which commemorates Sir 
Thomas MacLellan of Bombie and his wife (1597) in the former church 
of the Greyfriars in Kirkcudbright, or the enormous early seventeenth­
century stone sarcophagus of the Gordon family which dominates the 
interior of Anwoth Old Church, or even the large slab effigial monument 
of 1568 inside Terregles 'Queir'. 

This 'queir' (choir) itself was built as a mortuary chapel by the fourth 
lord Herries in 1583, and with its mixture of pointed and round-headed 
openings and three-sided apse, it perpetuates some of the traditional Gothic 
forms of the later Middle Ages. Much restored in 1875, it stands at the 
eastern end of the parish church which was built in 1799 on the site of 
an earlier nave. Its special significance lies in the fact it was erected in the 
immediate post-Reformation era by a Roman Catholic family, and is a 
tangible reminder of the persistence of the old faith among leading Catholic 
families and their followers as the Protestant Reformation ran its rough 
and often bitter course. 34 

Lay patronage and the protection it gave to Christian rites must have 
mattered equally in earlier centuries, but the social context of the early 
crosses of the region is difficult to establish. Of the distinctive Whithorn 
school of monuments, for example, which probably belong to a period 
of settlement in the Machars from the early tenth century onwards, about 
twenty crosses would have served as headstones for individual graves, the 
majority having come from Whithorn. Only one survives complete, and 
only one bears a decipherable inscription (in runes): 'The monument (or 
cross) of Donfert'. The taller crosses are mainly from the surrounding 
district, and probably marked religious centres, the most complete of these 
cemetery crosses being the tenth-century Monreith Cross which stands 2.3m 
high. 35 

In 1973 the cross was transferred to Whithorn Museum from the grounds 
of Monreith House, home of the Maxwells of Monreith since its completion 
in 1791. The Maxwells had lived in this vicinity from at least the later 
fifteenth century, first at 'Dowies' (also known as Ballingrene or Old Place 
of Monreith, 36 then after 1684 at Myrton Castle. Sir Herbert Maxwell, 
who succeeded to Monreith in 1877, related how, when Sir William 
Maxwell, purchaser of the lands of Myrton-MacCulloch in 1684, moved 
from Ballingrene: 

he designed to bring thither the Celtic cross which stood beside the 
old House of Ballingrene on an elevation known as the Mower. In 
transporting it the cart capsized in crossing the burn between the 
baronies of Monreith and Myrtoun, the shaft of the cross broke in 
two, and the story goes that flames burst forth from the fracture, and 
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an aged woman who witnessed the incident cried out, warning the laird 
that ill-fortune would befall him and his family if that cross were taken 
away from the old house. Sir William took the warning in earnest, 
and caused the cross to be replaced on the Mower. There or thereabouts 
it remained until my father, finding that it had been set up over the 
burial place of a favourite horse, thought he would treat it more 
honourably and had it erected where it now stands in front of Monreith 
House. Some persons may discern the fulfilment of the wise woman's 
warnings in the break-up of the estate of Monreith following upon 
the cross being removed from the old house.37 

It is difficult to believe that an undistinguished site near Dowies, a house 
dating from about 1600, was the original setting for the cross. But since 
the later Middle Ages proprietorial links had joined the possessors of 
Monreith to what Sir Herbert picturesquely called 'the ancient God's acre 

Fig.9.4 Dundrennan Abbey; lithograph by W. Spreat from a drawing by Reverend 
A. B. Hutchison, c. 1857. 
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beside the sea at Kirkmaiden' 38 where his ancestors were buried, and 
where he himself had the chancel of the medieval church rebuilt. A centre 
of its own parish in medieval times, now part of Glasserton parish, 
Kirkmaiden is the certain source of other sculptured crosses of the 
Whithorn school, and Collingwood considered that it was next in 
importance to Whithorn and St Ninian's Cave among sacred sites in tenth­
century Galloway. 39 It is thus reasonable to believe that this sea-shore 
burial-ground was also the first site of the Monreith Cross, even though 
the identities and habitations of the Maxwell's tenth-century predecessors 
remain as yet unknown. 
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